No. 44642-1-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

Jesse Clark,

Appellant.

Cowlitz County Superior Court Cause No. 11-1-01099-3

The Honorable Judge Michael H. Evans

Appellant's Opening Brief

Jodi R. Backlund
Manek R. Mistry
Skylar T. Brett
Attorneys for Appellant

BACKLUND & MISTRY
P.O. Box 6490
Olympia, WA 98507
(360) 339-4870
backlundmistry@gmail.com

ISSUES AND ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Mr. Clark's four bail jumping convictions violated his Fourteenth Amendment right to due process because the evidence was insufficient to prove bail jumping.
2. The prosecution failed to prove that Mr. Clark received actual notice that he was required to personally appear in court.
3. The prosecution failed to prove that Mr. Clark received actual notice of the specific time his presence was required.
4. The prosecution failed to prove that Mr. Clark had actual knowledge that he was required to personally appear in court on a particular date at a specific time.

ISSUE 1: A conviction for bail jumping requires proof that the accused person received actual notice of a requirement of personal appearance on a particular date at a specific time. Here, the state failed to prove actual notice. Was the evidence insufficient to prove bail jumping?

5. The prosecution failed to prove the specific time that the trial court called Mr. Clark's case and noted his alleged absence on April 19th (count three) and August 2nd (count five).
6. The prosecution failed to prove that Mr. Clark was absent from court at 8:30 a.m. on August 6th (count six).

ISSUE 2: To convict Mr. Clark of bail jumping, the prosecution was required to prove that he failed to appear in court at the specific time he'd been directed to appear. The state failed to prove that Mr. Clark failed to appear at the specific time required by the court's scheduling order. Was the evidence insufficient to prove bail jumping?

7. Mr. Clark's convictions for extortion and possession of stolen property violate the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment prohibition against double jeopardy.

8. Two convictions violate double jeopardy if based on the “same evidence.”

ISSUE 3: Multiple convictions violate double jeopardy if the convictions are based on the “same evidence.” Here, the evidence relied on by the state to prove extortion was sufficient to prove the possession of stolen property charge. Did entry of two convictions for the same offense violate Mr. Clark’s Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment right to be free from double jeopardy?

9. Mr. Clark’s convictions for four counts of bail jumping violate the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment prohibition against double jeopardy.
10. Mr. Clark committed at most two units of bail jumping.

ISSUE 4: Multiple convictions for a single unit of prosecution violate double jeopardy. Here, the evidence showed that Mr. Clark missed court on multiple occasions, but that he’d only been released by court order or admitted to bail twice. Did the entry of two bail jumping convictions for each release order violate double jeopardy?

11. The prosecutor committed misconduct that was flagrant and ill-intentioned.
12. The prosecutor improperly quantified the reasonable doubt standard in closing argument.
13. The prosecutor improperly “testified” to “facts” outside the record.
14. The prosecutor improperly bolstered the credibility of a state witness with reference to facts outside the record.
15. The prosecutor improperly bolstered the state’s case by arguing that police “finally got enough evidence” to obtain a search warrant for Mr. Clark’s home.
16. The prosecutor improperly urged jurors to convict based on passion, prejudice, and propensity evidence.

ISSUE 5: A prosecutor commits misconduct by quantifying the reasonable doubt standard, “testifying” to “facts” not in evidence, improperly bolstering the credibility of a witness or the strength of the state’s case, or relying on passion and prejudice to obtain a conviction. Here, the prosecutor committed misconduct that was flagrant and ill-intentioned. Was Mr. Clark prejudiced by numerous instances of prosecutorial misconduct?

17. Mr. Clark was convicted through the operation of a statute that is unconstitutionally overbroad.
18. The accomplice liability statute impermissibly permits conviction based on “words” or “encouragement” spoken with knowledge but without intent to promote or facilitate a crime.
19. The accomplice liability statute impermissibly permits conviction based on “words” or “encouragement” even absent proof that the speech is likely to incite imminent lawless action.
20. The trial judge erred by giving Instruction No. 12, which defined accomplice liability to include mere advocacy, in violation of the First and Fourteenth Amendments.

ISSUE 6: A statute is unconstitutional if it criminalizes speech that is not directed at and likely to incite imminent lawless action. The accomplice liability statute criminalizes speech made with knowledge that it will facilitate or promote commission of a crime, even if the speech is not directed at inciting imminent lawless action or likely to incite imminent lawless action. Is the accomplice liability statute unconstitutionally overbroad in violation of the First and Fourteenth Amendments?

21. The sentencing court failed to properly determine Mr. Clark’s offender score.
22. The sentencing court failed to determine whether or not the extortion and possession of stolen property charges comprised the same criminal conduct.

23. Mr. Clark's extortion and possession of stolen property charges should have scored as one point because they occurred at the same time and place, against the same victim, with the same overall criminal intent.

ISSUE 7: Multiple offenses comprise the same criminal conduct if they occur at the same time and place, against the same victim, with the same overall criminal purpose. Mr. Clark was prosecuted for extortion (as an accomplice) and possession of stolen property, based on allegations that he knowingly held a stolen dog at his house, in aid of a kidnapping and ransom scheme. Did the trial court err by scoring the extortion and possession of stolen property charges separately?

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS

Jessie Clark agreed to watch a bulldog for a friend. RP 265.¹ He brought the dog to his home, where he and his housemate Lori Vanderhoff cared for it. RP 267-69. He allowed the dog inside the house, and let it up on his furniture. RP 267. Later, Mr. Clark built a structure for the dog on his front porch. RP 270. The dog left Mr. Clark's house after two days. RP 286.

Two days after the dog left Mr. Clark's home, Jennifer Thomas started receiving text messages demanding her pain medication and \$1,000 for the safe return of her missing bulldog, Jagger. RP 98-100, 194-95. One of the texts included a photo of Jagger, with a rope similar to one found at Mr. Clark's house. RP 235-36, Ex 39. Thomas went to the sheriff's office. RP 99.

Thomas explained to the deputies that an acquaintance named Ivy Rose Folsom had stolen Jagger from her home. RP 82, 87, 91, 131-32. The Thomas family had distributed fliers bearing Jagger's picture. They'd posted the fliers in the area between the time he was stolen and when the messages began. RP 95. In addition, local news media ran numerous stories about the missing dog. RP 373-74.

¹ One witness testified that Mr. Clark said he had purchased the dog. RP 352.

More than two weeks later, Jagger was found dead. RP 226.

Police contacted Mr. Clark, who initially denied any knowledge of the dog. RP 403. Later, however, Mr. Clark gave the officers Johnny Jordan's name. RP 406, 410. Jordan was Ivy Folsom's boyfriend. RP 83.

The police arrested Jordan. RP 322, 397-98, 406. They found Jordan hiding in a closet in the apartment he shared with Folsom. RP 321-22. Jordan had a copy of the lost dog flier bearing Jagger's photo in his pocket. RP 171, 326-27. Jordan also had several cell phones and Jagger's name written on a small notebook. RP 324, 326-27.

The state charged Mr. Clark with possession of stolen property and extortion. CP 1. The state later charged Mr. Clark with four counts of bail jumping, alleging that he had missed two trial readiness hearings and the associated trial dates. CP 2.

To prove the bail jump charges, the state introduced testimony of the court clerks and copies of the clerk's minutes. RP 412-459; Ex. 203-21. The minutes indicate that a readiness hearing was set in Mr. Clark's case for April 19, 2012 and that trial was set for April 23, 2012. Ex. 205, 206. The minutes do not specify what time the hearings were to start. Ex. 205, 206.

At trial, a clerk testified that the April 19th hearing was supposed to begin at 9:00 am and that it is the court's general practice to inform the

accused person of when s/he is supposed to appear. RP 424. The prosecutor did not ask if Mr. Clark was actually informed of the date and time of his readiness hearing. RP 412-59. The state also did not ask what time the April 23rd trial was supposed to start, or whether Mr. Clark was told of that date and time. RP 412-59. The state did not offer a written scheduling order or any document signed by Mr. Clark acknowledging receipt of notice of the hearings.

The minutes from April 19, 2012 and April 23, 2012 show that Mr. Clark was not in court on those dates. Ex. 207, 209. The April 19th minutes do not specify the time he was determined to be absent. Ex. 207. The April 23rd minutes indicate that Mr. Clark was not present at 8:52am. Ex. 209.

The court set another readiness hearing and trial date. The clerk's minutes show that readiness and trial were set for August 2, 2012 and August 6, 2012 respectively. Ex. 211, 212. The minutes do not indicate the time at which Mr. Clark was required to appear. Ex. 211, 212.

A clerk testified that the August 2nd hearing was supposed to start at 9:00am but again, the state's attorney did not ask the clerk if Mr. Clark was informed of that time. RP 444. Another clerk testified that the August 6th trial was to begin at 8:30 a.m., and that the court generally tells the accused person the start time. RP 441-42. The state did not ask if the

judge specifically told Mr. Clark what time he needed to be in court on that date. RP 412-49. The state did not offer any written scheduling notice or other document signed by Mr. Clark indicating that he had been notified of the dates and times of the hearings.

The minutes from August 2, 2012 and August 6, 2012 indicate that Mr. Clark was absent on those dates. Ex. 214, 216. The August 2nd minutes do not indicate what time Mr. Clark was determined to be absent. Ex. 214. The August 6th minutes state that Mr. Clark was not in court at 8:56 a.m. Ex. 216.

The state called a number of witnesses regarding the extortion and possession of stolen property allegations. Several sheriff's deputies described their investigation into the text messages demanding ransom for Jagger's safe return. RP 145-62, 175-80, 187-212. Using Thomas's cell phone, law enforcement arranged to meet with the kidnapper to make an exchange. RP 146-49. The messages eventually led the police to a road near a golf course in Kelso. RP 155-56. Other deputies parked out of sight, near what they thought were the only two routes leaving the area. RP 175, 177.

At one point, a truck drove by. RP 159, 185, 211. One detective described the truck as a tan or white four-wheel-drive import with a barrel in the back. RP 159. A deputy testified that he thought the truck was a

Nissan. RP 185. Another deputy just saw a pickup truck but could not describe it. RP 211. The deputies were unable to contact the driver of the truck because it turned down a small road that they did not know about. RP 161, 167-69, 178-79. In closing, the prosecutor argued that it was “quite a coincidence” that Mr. Clark owned a white Toyota truck. RP 503.

Lori Vanderhoff, who had been staying on Mr. Clark’s property, testified that Mr. Clark brought the dog to his house in his truck, and that it had an injured paw. RP 263-65. She testified that Mr. Clark had not slept for nine or ten days around the time that the dog was at his home. RP 273-74. She testified that the dog only stayed at the house two days. RP 285-86. She knew Folsom and Jordan, but did not see them during that time. RP 288-89. The dog was gone as of October 6th, which was two days before Thomas began receiving texts. RP 286, 97-98. Vanderhoff did not see Mr. Clark with the dog after it left the house. RP 292. Vanderhoff also said that she moved from Mr. Clark’s property partially because of a comment he made that he had “beat the shit out of that f*cking d—.” RP 275-76.² Vanderhoff understood “d—” to mean dog. RP 275. The state attempted to elicit the content of Vanderhoff’s

² Mr. Clark’s neighbor also told the police that he had heard the comment, but did not recall at the time of his testimony. RP 354-56.

statement to the police, but the court sustained Mr. Clark's hearsay objection. RP 388.

In closing, the prosecutor argued that Vanderhoff's statement to the police corroborated her testimony:

And Mrs. Vanderhoff told you the same as she told the police, that she was concerned about that, the Defendant had been acting erratically, engaged in some bizarre behavior up for ten days at a stretch, and he told ... her they aren't welcome on the property. RP 498.

The sheriff's deputies also testified about their search of Mr. Clark's property. RP 226-239, 300-309. They found the shelter Mr. Clark built for the dog as Vanderhoff had described it to them. RP 233-36, 298, 304. They also found dog hair on a sofa inside Mr. Clark's home. RP 237-38.

The deputies did not testify that they uncovered any evidence linking Mr. Clark to the theft of the dog, the ransom demands, the cell phone from which the demands came, or the dog's death. RP 141-240, 293-343, 370-408. No testimony indicated that Mr. Clark had any contact with either the dog or with Folsom and Jordan after the dog left his house. RP 258-92. Although Thomas later received a picture of Jagger with a rope similar to one found at Mr. Clark's home, no testimony established when the photo was taken, or when it was provided to the person who sent it to Thomas. RP 199, 235-36; Ex. 39, 122.

In closing, prosecutor asked the jurors why Mr. Clark participated in the offenses, and then answered his own question:

Easy answer and it's an old answer: greed. Greed. Lust for money, lust for drugs. Because that's what Jagger meant to the Defendant and the people he was working with. To him, Jagger was not a pet, Jagger was not a friend of the family, Jagger was just a way to get what he wants. And he's willing to do whatever he ... needs to get from him. Dog has value to him, because of what it can get him. And when the dog can't get him anything anymore, dog's not worth anything to him. And we see where that ended up.
RP 497.

The prosecutor also stated that Vanderhoff's claims to the police were verified when they "finally get enough evidence to raid and search the defendant's house." RP 499.

In explaining the state's burden of proof, the prosecutor told the jury that:

[T]he law says you don't have to be convinced beyond all doubt, beyond any doubt, 99%.
RP 506.

Finally, the prosecutor said that rebuttal was his favorite part of trial because "... by [that] point, [he] get[s] to hear what the defense arguments are and they never fail to entertain." RP 526.

The court instructed the jury that it could find Mr. Clark guilty of extortion as an accomplice. Court's Instructions to Jury, No. 12, Supp. CP. The instructions permitted conviction based on "words" or "encouragement," if made "with knowledge" that they would "promote or

facilitate the commission of the crime.” The court’s instructions did not require proof that Mr. Clark intended to facilitate the crime. Court’s Instructions to Jury, No. 12, Supp. CP.

The jury found Mr. Clark guilty of all six charges. RP 539-40. The court scored each offense separately at sentencing. CP 6. This timely appeal follows. CP 18.

ARGUMENT

I. THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO CONVICT MR. CLARK OF BAIL JUMPING.

A. Standard of Review.

A conviction must be reversed for insufficient evidence if, taking the evidence in the light most favorable to the state, no rational trier of fact could have found the charge proven beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Chouinard*, 169 Wn. App. 895, 899, 282 P.3d 117 (2012) *review denied*, 176 Wn.2d 1003, 297 P.3d 67 (2013).

B. No rational trier of fact could have found Mr. Clark guilty of bail jumping beyond a reasonable doubt.

The bail jumping statute provides that:

(1) Any person having been released by court order or admitted to bail with knowledge of the requirement of a subsequent personal appearance before any court of this state... and who fails to appear ... is guilty of bail jumping.

RCWA 9A.76.170.

To meet the knowledge element of bail jumping, the state must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the accused received notice of the required court dates. *State v. Cardwell*, 155 Wn. App. 41, 47, 226 P.3d 243 (2010) *review granted, cause remanded on other grounds*, 172 Wn.2d 1003, 257 P.3d 1114 (2011).

The state must also prove that the accused person was absent at the specific time at which s/he was notified the hearing would occur. *State v. Coleman*, 155 Wn. App. 951, 964, 231 P.3d 212 (2010) *review denied*, 170 Wn.2d 1016, 245 P.3d 772 (2011).

Testimony regarding a person or organization's usual practices may not be sufficient to prove that an event occurred in accordance with those practices on a particular occasion. *United States v. Lo*, 231 F.3d 471, 477 (9th Cir. 2000) *holding modified on other grounds by United States v. Larson*, 495 F.3d 1094 (9th Cir. 2007).

1. There was insufficient evidence for a rational trier of fact to find Mr. Clark guilty of Count III.

Count III charged Mr. Clark with bail jumping based on his failure to appear on April 19, 2012. CP 2. The clerk's minutes show that the court set a readiness hearing for that date. Ex. 206. The minutes, however, do not specify what time the hearing was supposed to occur. Ex.

206. No written notice regarding this court date was offered into evidence. Nor did anyone testify that notice had been provided to Mr. Clark. RP 412-59. The clerk who prepared the minutes testified that the April 19th hearing was supposed to be at 9:00am and that it was the court's practice to inform the accused person of the date and time s/he is to appear. RP 424. No witness testified that Mr. Clark was actually informed that he was required to personally attend the April 19th hearing, or what time the hearing would be held. RP 412-59.

The clerk's minutes from the April 19th hearing indicated that Mr. Clark did not appear for that hearing. Ex. 207. The minutes do not indicate the time at which Mr. Clark was determined to be absent. Ex. 207. No witness testified regarding what time the court determined Mr. Clark was absent. RP 412-59.

The state presented insufficient evidence for a rational trier of fact to find beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Clark knew the date and time of his hearing. *Cardwell*, 155 Wn. App. at 47. Additionally, the state provided insufficient evidence for a rational trier of fact to find beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Clark was absent from court at the specific time at which his hearing was set. *Coleman*, 155 Wn. App. at 964. Mr. Clark's conviction for count III must be reversed. *Id.*

2. There was insufficient evidence for a rational trier of fact to find Mr. Clark guilty of Count IV.

Count IV charged Mr. Clark with bail jumping for failure to appear for his trial date on April 23, 2012. CP 2. Again, the state presented clerk's minutes as evidence that Mr. Clark was required to be in court on that date. Ex. 205. The minutes do not indicate the time at which Mr. Clark was required to appear. Ex. 205. Likewise, the minutes do not state that Mr. Clark was informed of the trial date or the time that he was required to be in court on April 23rd. Ex. 205. No witness testified that the court told Mr. Clark about the April 23rd trial date or gave him a time to appear in court. RP 412-59. The state did not offer any written notice that had been provided to Mr. Clark informing him of the date and time of his trial. No witness testified that such a notice existed. RP 412-59.

The state also offered the clerk's minutes from April 23, 2012, which stated that Mr. Clark was not in court at 8:52am on that date. Ex. 209. The court adjourned at 8:53am. Ex. 209.

No rational trier of fact could have found beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Clark was aware of his April 23rd trial date. *Cardwell*, 155 Wn. App. at 47. Similarly, the state did not prove the time Mr. Clark was required to be in court on April 23rd. Finally, there was no evidence that Mr. Clark failed to appear at the specific time the trial was to start. No

rational trier of fact could have found that he failed to appear at the required time. *Coleman*, 155 Wn. App. at 964.

Mr. Clark's conviction for count IV must be reversed. *Id.*

3. There was insufficient evidence for a rational trier of fact to find Mr. Clark guilty of Count V.

Count V charged Mr. Clark with failure to appear for a readiness hearing on August 2, 2012. CP 2. The clerk's minutes – which the state offered as evidence that Mr. Clark was required to appear on that date – did not state what time the hearing would be held. Ex. 213. A clerk testified that the readiness hearing was to be at 9:00am, but did not testify as to whether Mr. Clark was informed of the date or time of the hearing. RP 444. Again, the state did not introduce written notice informing Mr. Clark of the date and time scheduled for the hearing. No witness testified that Mr. Clark received written notice. RP 412-59.

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