NO. 44642-1-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

JESSE JAMES CLARK,

Appellant.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

SUSAN I. BAUR Prosecuting Attorney AARON BARTLETT/WSBA 39710 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Representing Respondent

HALL OF JUSTICE 312 SW FIRST KELSO, WA 98626 (360) 577-3080

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

O'Brien specifically held that it was only finding the bail jumping statute ambiguous regarding the unit of prosecution "as applied to the facts of th[e] case" before it. *Id.* at 932.

More instructive for the facts here, where Mr. Clark failed to appear at four separate court dates, are Ose, State v. DeSantiago, State v. Westling, and State v. Root. 156 Wn.2d 140, 103 P.3d 1238 (2005); 149 Wn.2d 402, 419, 68 P.3d 1065 (2003); 145 Wn.2d 607, 610, 40 P.3d 669 (2002); 141 Wn.2d 701, 9 P.3d 214 (2000). In Ose the defendant pleaded guilty to 25 counts of second degree possession of stolen property under RCW 9A.56.160(1)(c), which provides that "[a] person is guilty of possessing stolen property in the second degree if . . .[h]e or she possesses a stolen access device." RCW 9A.56.160(1)(c); 156 Wn.2d at 145. In rejecting the defendant's unit of prosecution challenge Ose focused on the legislature's choice of the indefinite article "a" in "a stolen access device" and held that "because the word 'a' is used only to precede singular nouns except when a plural modifier is interposed, the legislature's use of the word 'a' before 'stolen access device' unambiguously gives RCW 9A.56.160(1)(c) the plain meaning that possession of each stolen access device is a separate violation of the statute." 156 Wn.2d at 146.

In so holding, Ose stated that "this court has consistently interpreted the legislature's use of the word 'a' in criminal statutes as authorizing punishment for each individual instance of criminal conduct. even if multiple instances of such conduct occurred simultaneously." Id. at 147. DeSantiago, Westling, and Root provide support. 156 Wn.2d at 147-48. DeSantiago interpreted RCW 9.94A.533(3) and (4), which allows for sentence enhancements if a defendant or an accomplice was armed with 'a' firearm or 'a' deadly weapon and held that the statute allows a defendant to "be punished for 'each' weapon involved." 149 Wn.2d at 418-19. Similarly, Westling interpreted RCW 9A.48.030(1), which provides that "[a] person is guilty of arson in the second degree if he knowingly and maliciously causes a fire or explosion which damages a building, or any . . . automobile" and held that because the legislature used the words "a fire," the unit of prosecution for the arson statute was per fire caused by the defendant. 145 Wn.2d at 611–12. Likewise Root considered how the legislature's use of the words "a minor" in the sexual exploitation of a minor statute, RCW 9.68A.040, impacted the unit of prosecution analysis and held that because "[t]he statute specifically states 'a minor,'. .. [the defendant] may be charged per child involved." 141 Wn.2d at 71011. Furthermore, our Supreme Court, in consistently interpreting the legislature's use of the word "a" in criminal statutes as authorizing punishment for each individual instance of criminal conduct does so "presum[ing] that the legislature is aware of [the Court's] prior interpretations of its enactments." *Ose*, 156 Wn.2d at 148 (citing *State v. Tili*, 139 Wn.2d 107, 116, 985 P.2d 365 (1999).

Here, the bail jumping statute which provides that "[a]ny person having been released by court order or admitted to bail with knowledge of the requirement of a subsequent personal appearance . . . and who fails to appear . . . is guilty of bail jumping" should be interpreted consistent with Ose, DeSantiago, Westling, and Root. RCW 9A.76.170(1) (emphasis added).3 Consequently, the legislature's use of the word "a" before "subsequent personal appearance" unambiguously gives **RCW** 9A.76.170(1) the plain meaning that failing to appear at each subsequent personal appearance is a separate violation of the statute. In other words, the unit of prosecution for the bail jump statute is each court date the defendant fails to appear at after being ordered to appear. In addition, this construction is entirely consistent with O'Brien and its unit of prosecution

analysis. Thus, Mr. Clark is guilty of four counts of bail jumping for failing to appear in court on four separate dates (April 19, 23 and August 2, 6) when he had been ordered to appear at each one.

In addition, and worthy of note, is that Mr. Clark was ordered to appear on April 19 when he appeared in court on March 27, ordered to appear on April 23 when he appeared in court on February 2, ordered to appear on August 2 when he appeared in court on June 19 and again on June 27, and ordered to appear on August 6 when he appeared in court on May 29 and again June 27. Ex. 205-06, 211-213. Consequently, Mr. Clark was released by a *separate* court order for *each* court date that he missed. In other words, each time Mr. Clark failed to appear he violated a court order that was separate and distinct from the other orders requiring him to appear in court.

3) MR. CLARK WAS NOT DENIED A FAIR TRIAL.

At trial, "[c] ounsel are permitted latitude to argue the facts in evidence and reasonable inferences" in their closing arguments. *State v. Smith*, 104 Wn.2d 497, 510, 707 P.2d 1306 (1985). Any allegedly

³ As noted by O'Brien, the statute's history does not provide any insight for the purposes of a unit of prosecution analysis. 164 Wn.App at 930 FN. 11.

improper statements by the State in closing arguments "should be viewed within the context of the prosecutor's entire argument, the issues in the case, the evidence discussed in the argument, and the jury instructions." *State v. Dhaliwal*, 150 Wn.2d 559, 578, 79 P.2d 432 (2003) (citing *State v. Brown*, 132 Wn.2d 529, 561, 940 P.2d 546 (1997)). Juries are presumed to follow jury instructions absent evidence to contrary. *State v. Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d 918, 928, 155 P.3d 125 (2007) (citing *State v. Davenport*, 100 Wn.2d 757, 763, 675 P.2d 1213 (1984)).

The State bears the burden of proving each element of the crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt. *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S.Ct. 1068 (1970). Thus, the State commits misconduct if its arguments improperly shift the burden of proof to the defendant or mischaracterize the burden. *State v. Gregory*, 158 Wn.2d 759, 859-60, 147 P.3d 1201 (2006); *State v. Emery*, 174 Wn.2d 741, 759-60, 278 P.3d 653 (2012). If the defendant can establish that misconduct occurred, the determination of whether the defendant was prejudiced is subject to one of the two standards of review: "[i]f the defendant objected at trial, the defendant must show that the prosecutor's misconduct resulted in prejudice that had a substantial likelihood of affecting the jury's verdict. If the defendant did

not object at trial, the defendant is deemed to have waived any error, unless the prosecutor's misconduct was so flagrant and ill intentioned that an instruction could not have cured the resulting prejudice." *Emery*, 174 Wn.2d at 760 (citations omitted).

Simply put, a defendant must first establish a prosecutor engaged in misconduct and then, when failing to object at trial, that "(1) no curative instruction would have obviated any prejudicial effect on the jury and (2) the misconduct resulted in prejudice that had a substantial likelihood of affecting the jury verdict." *Id.* at 760-61 (citation omitted): *In re Glasmann*, 175 Wn.2d 696, 704, 286 P.3d 673 (2012). Under the heightened standard, "[r]eviewing courts should focus less on whether the prosecutor's misconduct was flagrant or ill intentioned and more on whether the resulting prejudice could have been cured." *Id.* at 762; *State v. Russell*, 125 Wn.2d 24, 85, 882 P.2d 747 (1994) ("Reversal is not required if the error could have been obviated by a curative instruction which the defense did not request."); *State v. Warren*, 165 Wash.2d 17, 195 P.3d 940 (2008) (prosecutor's misstatements about the burden of proof undermined the presumption of innocence but were not incurable).

Here, Mr. Clark did not object a single time during the State's closing or rebuttal closing to the arguments that he now asserts are misconduct. Consequently, Mr. Clark must first establish the State engaged in misconduct and then that "(1) no curative instruction would have obviated any prejudicial effect on the jury and (2) the misconduct resulted in prejudice that had a substantial likelihood of affecting the jury verdict." *Emery*, 174 Wn.2d at 760-61. His first assertion of misconduct is that the State improperly quantified the reasonable doubt standard. Br. of App. at 25. But the statement about which Mr. Clark complains, even if considered misconduct, cannot be considered flagrant and ill intentioned when viewed within the context of the prosecutor's entire argument and the jury instructions as we must. The prosecutor stated:

Well, the law says you don't have to be convinced beyond all doubt, beyond any doubt, 99%. You have to beyond a reasonable doubt. And Judge Evans defines it for us. He tells us that a reasonable doubt is one for which a reason exists, and if you have an abiding belief; a belief that lasts, a belief that endures in the defendant's guilt, then you are convinced, as the law requires, beyond a reasonable doubt.

RP 506. The prosecutor here, given the context and the fact that the jury was properly instructed on the law regarding reasonable doubt, did not

commit misconduct. Moreover, any misconduct could have been obviated with a curative instruction.

The other allegations of misconduct by Mr. Clark are similarly wanting. For example, Mr. Clark complains about the following argument:

Mrs. Vanderhoff told you the same as she told the police, that was concerned about that, the Defendant had been acting erratically, engaged in some bizarre behavior, up for ten days at a stretch, and he told . . . her they aren't welcome on the property.

RP 498. For one, "[c]ounsel are permitted latitude to argue the facts in evidence and reasonable inferences" in their closing arguments. *Smith*, 104 Wn.2d at 510. For another, Ms. Vanderhoff's actual testimony was that Mr. Clark had seemed to have been up for 9 or 10 days without sleeping, that his behavior was concerning, and that she had become fearful of him. RP 273-74. Granted, neither Ms. Vanderhoff nor anybody else testified that Mr. Clark said "they aren't welcome on the property," but that is a thin reed on which to hang an argument about flagrant and ill intentioned misconduct.

Additionally, Mr. Clark asserts that the prosecutor's argument that "everything she [Ms. Vanderhoff] says is corroborated by what the police

find when they finally get enough evidence to search Defendant's house" impermissibly bolstered her credibility using facts that had been specifically excluded by the court. But that is not true. Deputy Marc Johnson specifically testified as to what Ms. Vanderhoff told him. RP 297-98. Furthermore, when Deputy Johnson testified about his role in executing the search warrant at Mr. Clark's home, he testified about how the things he found matched what Ms. Vanderhoff had described to him. RP 303-05. Moreover, the evidence was straightforward that after Ms. Vanderhoff reported what she knew that a search warrant was sought and executed, especially because it all happened on the same day. RP 300, 386-390. Finally, Ms. Vanderhoff's trial testimony about what she observed at Mr. Clark's house was corroborated by each of the deputies who partook in executing the search warrant as each testified to finding the items that Ms. Vanderhoff had described on the witness stand, Consequently, no misconduct can be found in the above argument by the prosecutor.

Mr. Clark next contends that the prosecutor's closing argument encouraged the jury to convict Mr. Clark based on passion and prejudice rather than the evidence in the case by linking Mr. Clark to Jagger's

mistreatment and by arguing that Mr. Clark participated in the extortion plot out of greed. The prosecutor's argument here was proper and supported by the evidence. The abductor(s) demanded money and drugs otherwise they would torture the Jagger. The prosecutor's argument merely identified Mr. Clark's motive. Jagger was found dead with his face separated from his body. And the evidence that Mr. Clark did not treat Jagger kindly, or at least not like one would a pet or friend's pet, goes to show his knowledge in the whole caper and indifference, at best, as to what would happen to Jagger.

Finally, Mr. Clark asserts that when the prosecutor stated that rebuttal is his favorite part of trial because "...by [that] point, [he] get[s] to hear what the defense arguments are and they never fail to entertain" he improperly denigrated defense counsel. Br. of App. 30. The State concedes such a statement should not have been made. Nonetheless, it is doubtful said statement resulted in prejudice that had a substantial likelihood of affecting the jury verdict or whatever prejudice that was caused by the statement could not have been obviated by a curative instruction. Accordingly, Mr. Clark's convictions should be affirmed.

4) THE ACCOMPLICE LIABILITY STATUTE IS NOT UNCONSTITUIONALLY OVERBROAD

A statute is unconstitutional on its face if "no set of circumstances exists in which the statute, as currently written, can be constitutionally applied." *City of Redmond v. Moore*, 151 Wn.2d 664, 669, 91 P.3d 875 (2004). Such statutes are rendered inoperative. *Id.* A statute that is unconstitutional as applied prohibits the future application of the statute in a similar context, but the statute is not totally invalidated. *Id.* at 669. Specifically, a statute is overbroad if it prohibits a substantial amount of protected speech and conduct. *City of Seattle v. Huff*, 111 Wn.2d 923, 925, 767 P.2d 572 (1989); *City of Seattle v. Webster*, 115 Wn.2d 635, 641, 802 P.2d 1333 (1990) ("A statute which regulates behavior, and not pure speech, will not be overturned as overbroad unless the challenging party shows the overbreadth is both real and substantial in relation to the statute's plainly legitimate sweep.") (internal quotations omitted).

The Court of Appeals in *State v. Coleman*, 155 Wn.App. 951, 231 P.3d 212 (2010) considered the same attack on the accomplice liability statute, RCW 9A.08.020, that Mr. Clark makes. In *Coleman*, the defendant argued the statute was unconstitutionally overbroad because it

Amendment. *Id.* at 960. *Coleman* rejected the defendant's argument and found that the accomplice liability statute "requires the criminal mens rea to aid or agree to aid the commission of a specific crime with knowledge the aid will further the crime." *Id.* at 961. This, therefore, avoids activities that are not performed in aid of a crime and that only consequentially further the crime. *Id.* (citing *Brandenburg v. Ohio*, 395 U.S. 444, 448, 89 S. Ct. 1827, 23 L. Ed. 2d 430 (1969).

The Court of Appeals in *State v. Ferguson*, 164 Wn.App. 370, 264 P.3d 575 (2011) also considered the same attack on the accomplice liability statute that Mr. Clark presents. *Ferguson* held that the accomplice liability statute "forbids advocacy directed at and likely to incite or produce imminent lawless action," and does not forbid the "mere advocacy of law violation that is protected under the holding in *Brandenburg*." *Ferguson*, 164 Wn. App. At 376. Thus, both *Coleman* and *Ferguson* rejected overbreadth challenges to the accomplice liability statute.

This court should decline Mr. Clark's invitation to reconsider *Coleman* and *Ferguson* where, here, Mr. Clark's role as an accomplice was based entirely on his conduct.

5) MR. CLARK'S SAME CRIMINAL CONDUCT ARGUMENT IS WAIVED BECAUSE HE FAILED TO MAKE THE ARGUMENT TO THE TRIAL COURT.

When a defendant is convicted of two or more crimes "the default method of calculating [his] offender score is entirely in the State's favor because it treats all current offenses as distinct criminal conduct." *State v. Graciano*, 176 Wn.2d 531, 540, 295 P.3d 219 (2013). Thus, "each of [the] defendant's convictions counts toward his offender score unless he convinces the court" that some or all of his current convictions encompass the same criminal conduct. *Id.*; RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a). "The decision to grant or deny this modification is within the sound discretion of the trial court and, like other circumstances in which the movant invokes the discretion of the court, the defendant bears the burden of production and persuasion." *Graciano*, 176 Wn.2d at 540. Thus, a "same criminal conduct" determination will be reversed by an appellate court only when there is a clear abuse of discretion or misapplication of the law. *State v.*

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